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ERNEST E, CHAPMAN: . . . in the southern centra l par t of Kentucky and 

raised, t he re . My mother and daddy l ived on a farm, I l e f t r a the r young a f t e r . . . . 

I d i d n ' t go to col lege; I went to high school. Of course, since tha t time I 

have taken courses. I have one degree [course diploma?] from the University 

of North Carolina, more or l e s s personnel work. 

MARY MURPHY: Has t h i s a t Chapel Hil l? 

CHAPMAN: Yes. These two professorsthat gave the course would come up 

here a t night , and there was quite a few people in the industry tha t took the 

course. I wag in i t ia ted into the Hosiery in Indianapolis , Indiana, around 

1921 or '22 . 

MMi How did you end up in Indianapolis? 

CHAPMAN: I t wasn't too fa r from Kentucky. By the time I finished, school 

I had. had a l l the farming I wanted; I wanted something e l s e . And I d i d n ' t 

see any chance of going on to get a higher education, so I was looking for 

work and I found work in t h i s hosiery mill in Indianapolis . And from there 

I went to Milwaukee, Wisconsin, which was another hosiery center . Had 

hole-proof hosiery—you probably don ' t remember i t — i n the Phoenix Hosiery 

Mill and. everywhere in Milwaukee. 

MM: What job did you have when you f i r s t s tarted in Indianapolis? 

CHAPMAN: I was what they ca l l a k n i t t e r . 

MM: How long did i t take you t o learn that? 

CHAPMAN: I t wasn't a very long t ra in ing course. I ' d say a month or two. 

I t was more or l e s s taking from the machines. They d i d n ' t do too much work 

on machines. A l i t t l e . Change the needle i f you had a broken needle, o r 

something l ike t h a t . But they changed systems, and they doubled up and 

instead of having kn i t t e r s on so many machines, they gave them three or four 

times as many machines and then put helpers with them a t a lower pay r a t e . 

MMi When did tha t f i r s t happen? 

CHAPMAN 1 That was around 1922, '24, along i n t h e r e . Then I went from Interview number H-0016 in the Southern Oral History Program Collection (#4007) at The Southern  Historical Collection, 
The Louis Round Wilson Special Collections Library, UNC-Chapel Hill.
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there to Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and s t i l l worked in the mi l l , most always 

working on machines tha t made l a d i e s ' hosiery, not men's hosiery. At tha t 

time your work would be pre t ty regular in the wintertime. In the summertime 

they'd close them down over the re . I met some people from Durham, and they 

were going to leave Wisconsin and move back t o Durham, so I decided to come 

with them. In Durham I more or l e s s wanted to get into full-fashioned work. 

Up u n t i l tha t time i t was a l l seamless. That 's a l i t t l e machine l ike you see 

today. But then full-fashioned was beginning t o g e t very much in demand. 

In Wisconsin i t was a l l union, and you d i d n ' t get a job learning to kn i t on 

full-fashioned except the four years of apprenticeship. 

MM: Was the apprenticeship s e t up by the union? 

CHAPMAN: That was se t up by the union, tha t work setup. In Durham they 

d i d n ' t have a union, and I eventually got to work and got t ra in ing on 

full-fashioned. 

MM: Which mill did you work a t in Durham? 

CHAPMAN: The Golden Belt Manufacturing Company. 

MM: That 's another one of the towns tha t we're studying, and I'm going 

to go over the re . 

CHAPMAN: I t ' s gone now. 

MM: Yes, but , , . 

CHAPMAN: There were two there , Durham Hosiery Mill and the Golden Belt 

Manufacturing Company. I was working in the wintertime. I was s t i l l working 

on the l a d i e s ' seamless, with the promise tha t when they closed tha t down in 

the spring tha t they would l e t me learn how to knit on the full-fashioned. 

In the meantime I ' d get up in the afternoon and go over there—I was working 

a t night from s ix to s i x ; tha t was the schedule—into the full-fashioned 

department and help the k n i t t e r s for an hour or two. So whenever they closed 
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i t down, within three weeks I was ready to take a kn i t t ing machine. I 

guess the superintendent had noticed I was in te res ted . Anyway he stopped one 

night . At tha t time, jus t l ike i t i s now, you started a t nine on the night 

s h i f t . He stopped and wanted t o know when in the world, did I learn how to 

kn i t . I told him I 'd been working in the afternoon while I was working in the 

other department. So a couple of nights l a t e r he stopped by my machine and 

wanted to know i f I wouldn't l ike to learn how to f i x . I was making pre t ty 

good money kn i t t i ng ; I ' d ju s t got s t a r t ed . 

MMi This was when you had started kn i t t ing on the full-fashioned? 

CHAPMAN: Yes. 

MM: They wanted you to learn how to f ix the full-fashioned machines? 

CHAPMAN: Full-fashioned. Because while I was kn i t t ing over the re , I 

fixed a se t of machines in the wintertime on the seamless. I had been around, 

those long enough tha t I could do most anything tha t had to be done t o them. 

I told him I ' d have to think about i t , because I knew I 'd have to take a cut 

in wages while I was taking t r a in ing . So I decided i f I was going to get 

anywhere, I 'd have to take i t . So I told him the next night t ha t I would be 

glad t o . So he put me on t r a in ing , and I took my t ra in ing there , I was lucky enough 

to get along very well , and I was the only one on the night sh i f t over 

there taking care of the whole department, fixing a t n ight . 

MM; What year was t h i s t ha t you came to Durham? 

CHAPMAN: In '26 . 

MM; Who was the superintendent at that time? 

CHAPMAN; At Golden Belt it was Mr. Ben Gaddy. He had an older brother, 

Fred Gaddy, that was superintendent of the Wiscasset Mills at Albemarle. 

In other words, they grew up in the hosiery. My idea was to sometime 

be in charge of a mill. At that time the industry was growing very rapidly. 

A lot of mills were starting. There was about four new ones starting here in 
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Burlington a t tha t time, and Tower was one of them, I was anxious to get 

ahead, so I contacted Mr. Re id Maynard and made a deal with him to come and. 

take charge. He was jus t ge t t ing some secondhand machines. I don ' t know 

whether he told you about t h a t , when they s t a r t ed . They were r e a l l y worn-out 

equipment and probably had been in use twenty-five or t h i r t y years . They 

were manufactured by Textile Machine Works in Reading, Pennsylvania, and the 

newest machine tha t they had was s e r i a l number 222. 

MM; [Laughter] 

CHAPMANi So you can imagine how. . . , And I fought them for s ixteen 

hours a day. I worked from seven u n t i l ten or eleven o'clock every night , 

t rying to get them s t a r t ed . 

MM: How many kn i t t ing machines did he s t a r t with? 

CHAPMAN; At that time they had e igh t . You had s ix what we c a l l leggers , 

and two footers , which was supposed to have been two u n i t s . A uni t a t t ha t 

time was one footer and three leggers . I got about four or five of the leggers 

running, I got one of the footers running, but i t never did make any 

f i r s t - c l a s s work. After about two months I told Mr. Maynard. t ha t I would 

never be able to make him any money with tha t equipment, and i f he wanted 

to t r y somebody e lse I ' d give i t up. But I think tha t he knew enough tha t he 

could see enough tha t he said he d i d n ' t want to qu i t , tha t they was figuring 

on get t ing new machines, which they did* I think in August or September the 

f i r s t one come i n . Then when we got one of those going,we stopped then . 

MM: [Laughter] 

CHAPMAN: I t ' s been a great turnover. The machines t ha t we got in a t 

tha t time—that was in 1929 and '30 . . . . I s tar ted get t ing young people in 

to t r a i n . I trained a l l the k n i t t e r s . We had four footers and about e ight 

leggers , and they were German machines, made in Germany. 
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MM; Were those be t t e r than the Reading machines? 

CHAPMAN: They were a good machine as far as kn i t t ing hosiery was concerned, 

but they was very d i f f i c u l t to f ix because no two machines was b u i l t by the same 

person in Germany. Each hole(?) f in lsher , or whatever they called them in Germany, 

would, s t a r t on a machine, and he would build i t himself and build i t h i s way. 

And a l o t of the par ts on i t were f i t t ed by f i l e ; they weren't standard molded 

pa r t s . And i f you had to replace one, i t was the same way: you'd have to f i t 

i t on the machine. But as far as kn i t t ing , the production was good. They 

made good, work. In fac t , the machines tha t we had from them ac tua l ly bu i l t 

our hosiery mi l l . 

MM: When you got those new machines, was the pr inciple the same as on 

the kn i t t ing machines you had worked before? Did they have to send somebody 

to t r a i n you how to f ix those? 

CHAPMAN; They always sent men here to i n s t a l l them. See, they come in in 

boxes in pa r t s , thousands of p a r t s . They were shipped across . I don ' t know 

i f you have pic tures of them; I imagine you do have pic tures of full-fashioned. 

You see , they weighed tons and was somewhere around for ty or forty-two feet 

long. All t ha t s tuff come in in l i t t l e pa r t s , and. they sent men here to e rec t 

them and ge t them to running, and. then they were turned over to you. Or you 

accepted them whenever you saw tha t they were a l l r i g h t . You would sign a 

paper t ha t you accepted. In the meantime, you were working with the people 

t ha t ins ta l led them, and you can see more about. , . , 

Most a l l of the people t ha t was over here were on consignment from 

Germany to come over here , and a f t e r so many days o r weeks they'd have to 

go back. And some of them were old stubborn Germans. I f you walked around 

him and stopped, to look and see what he was doing, he was j u s t l i ab l e to lay 
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h i s too ls down and. go get him a drink of water. 

MM: [Laughter] So they were protecting t h e i r s k i l l s , in a way. 

CHAPMAN: Yes, t h a t ' s r i g h t . They d i d n ' t want to give you too much 

knowledge. In the meantime, we trained a l l the young people. You mentioned 

Joe Crutchfield, I guess Joe now has been a t Tower Mill longer than I was 

the re . I believe I hired Joe out of high school in 1930. Boys l ike tha t tha t 

we trained were d i f fe ren t people a t t ha t time than what you get today. You 

d i d n ' t have to be a foreman or a supervisor or a manager. The only thing you 

had to do was to work with them and give them a chance. They had enough pride 

in what they wanted, t o do. Of course, a t tha t time i t was during the 

Depression, and you had young fellows, say, twenty years old, some out of 

col lege, t ha t would come in wil l ing to l ea rn for nothing i f you'd j u s t give 

them the opportunity. We most always t r ied t o give them something, and most 

of those fellows l ike Joe and the young fellows t ha t we trained a t t ha t time 

did i t for e ight do l l a r s a week, Burlington was lucky; we never did run l e s s 

than three days a week. Of course, the wages was low. You hear people t a l k 

about the "good old days"; I reckon tha t was the good old days. You could 

walk out there where the railroad, runs up there , and the freight t r a i n ' d come 

by and you'd see for ty or f i f t y people r iding them, going from place to place 

jus t looking for anything. But we were lucky here in Burlington. We d i d n ' t 

have any bread l i n e s or soup kitchens or anything l i ke t h a t . Everybody did 

work enough to have a l l of . . , 

MM: Do you think tha t was mostly in the hosiery, because hosiery was kind 

of booming then? 

CHAPMAN; I think i t was because of the hosiery tha t Burlington was so 

lucky, because I guess a t tha t time women considered i t a necess i ty . Later 

on they began to get the bare-leg e f fec t , but a t tha t time you did move your 
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goods some, 

MM: Hosiery seems to be a much more ski l led job than some of the t e x t i l e 

mi l l s . Did. people want to work more in hosiery than t e x t i l e s ? 

CHAPMAN; Yes. I never did have any des i re to work on the weaving or 

anything l i ke t h a t , I was interested in hosiery, and I l ived i t day and n ight . 

I enjoyed i t ; I enjoyed working with the people, and I never did have any 

ser ious problem. I got along with the help very good. We were lucky enough 

with the help tha t we trained tha t they appreciated t h e i r job and they did a 

good job . The l a s t two or three years tha t I was down the re , i t was quite 

d i f fe ren t . Now you can ' t get young people interested in hosiery. 

MM: Why do you think t h a t ' s so? 

CHAPMAN; The main reason i s t ha t the hosiery pr ices have been so low. 

I f the hosiery companies make any p rof i t , the margin i s so low tha t they 

can ' t pay t h e i r wages and compete with the other i ndus t r i e s . The young 

people are not thinking about taking a job and working the i r s e l f up; they 

want topflight to start with. 
/kni t t ing 

MM; When we went through the mi l l , the new/machines, unless you're a 

f ixer , there doesn ' t r e a l l y , , . . The man tha t showed us through said in 

ef fec t , the people tha t are running them are r e a l l y j u s t inspectors for 

the stockings t ha t come up. There r e a l l y i s n ' t too much t o do on the machines, 

whereas on the old. kn i t t e r s i t seems l i ke i t was a much more in t e re s t ing and 

f u l f i l l i n g kind, of job . 

CHAPMAN: In other words, the full-fashioned was much more in te res t ing than 

seamless i s today. Today, even now since I 've l e f t the company, they don ' t 

even inspect i t . They jus t blow them in a bag, and maybe they go by every 

hour or two and look a t one. The idea there i s t h a t , say, i f you have a 

broken needle and i t j u s t keeps running, the material t ha t you have t o throw 
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away i s l e s s expensive than the personnel t o be there and catch i t r i gh t away. 

Most of the people tha t have in te res t ing jobs now in hosiery i s the f ixe r , 

because he has d i f fe ren t machines to f i x . The basic principle of kn i t t ing i s 

the same, but then they do the same thing with d i f fe ren t . , . . And i t ' s 

changing a l l the t ime. They're changing s t y l e s , t ry ing to get something t h a t ' s 

more a t t r a c t i v e . Another thing i s the speed of the machines. I think now 

they kni t a panty hose leg in about a minute and a half . They run 800 

revolutions a minute, and. t h a t ' s four courses, four feeds. Every time 

they make one revolut ion, i t ' s four courses. So t h a t ' s thir ty- two courses [3200?] 

a minute. 

MM: On the older machines, I think we said i t took about twelve minutes 

to knit a leg? 

CHAPMAN: Oh, yes, on the seamless i t took f i f t een . When the full-fashioned 

f ina l ly went out and we got the f i r s t seamless machines, I think we'd figure 

i t about f i f teen minutes for one stocking. The full-fashioned, machines can 

only make one course a t a t ime. As far as hosiery i s concerned, t h e r e ' s never 

been a hose t h a t ' s been made tha t was as good as the ful l-fashioned, since tha t 

time, before or a f t e r . Because they f i t well . Final ly the only objection 

tha t women could have was the problem of keeping the seam s t r a i g h t . But i t ' l l 

come back. I don ' t know how long I t ' l l be, but the seams wil l become more 

popular l a t e r on. 

MM: You think so? 

CHAPMAN 1 Defini te ly I think so . 

MM* Mr. Crutchfield sure wished tha t i t was so . [Laughter] 

CHAPMAN: He was r e a l l y wrapped up in the full-fashioned machine. But 

he was good. 

MM: He showed us the machine manual. I hadn ' t heard h is name, and your 

book was s t i l l there with your name on i t . And I sa id , "Oh, are you Mr. 

Chapman?" And he said , "No, no, I'm Mr. Crutchfield, but I keep up Mr. Interview number H-0016 in the Southern Oral History Program Collection (#4007) at The Southern  Historical Collection, 
The Louis Round Wilson Special Collections Library, UNC-Chapel Hill.
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Chapman's book." [Laughter] And he had a whole toolbox, and he had samples 

of the d i f ferent kinds of stockings tha t he had kn i t , and some s h i r t s that 

he had made on the machines, 

CHAPMAN* I wondered, did they show you any of those l a d i e s ' s h i r t s and 

a l l t h a t . 

MM: Yes. 

CHAPMAN; And., of course, the four machines they have now are making 

those l i t t l e ch i ld ren ' s t i g h t s . And you were ta lking about non-run? 

MM; I d i d n ' t r e a l l y understand t h a t , though. 

CHAPMAN; They're the only true non-run. You can ' t make a t rue non-run on 

a seamless machine. You can make i t r u n - r e s l s t [ a n t ] , but on the full-fashioned 

i t i s a non-run. There's no way you can make i t run. I guess . . . 

BEGIN TAPE I SIDE I I 

CHAPMAN: I t ' s hard for them to ever get used to the seamless, I th ink. 

But I don ' t know of any industry tha t has had t o , . . . I t seems tha t they 

completely change over every few years from one thing to another. Even when 

they s t a r t ed on full-fashioned, they started, a t 42-gauge and then 45 and then 

51 and then up to the 60, and a few f iner than t h a t , 66*s. But the 60-gauge 

was about as fine a gauge as was prac t ica l to run. If you got any f iner than 

t h a t , the tolerance was so close tha t two degrees ' change in temperature 

would affect i t . The 60-gauge machines were a r ea l good, machine, in o ther 

words, a f t e r you had your a i r conditioning and had controlled temperature and. 

humidity. Another change t h e r e ' s been, when. Tower Mills f i r s t started, i t was 

r ea l heavy-gauge s i l k , l i ke 8-strand and 12-strand. s i l k . I t made hose almost 

as heavy as these t rousers I 've got on. And then i t gradually come down; 
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say, from '36 on to '40 or ' 4 l , i t was r ea l what they called three-strand s i l k . 

And tha t was r ea l l y a beautiful hose. You know how s i l k i s spun, by the s i l k 

worms off a mulberry leaf . And they spin i t on a cocoon, and i t ' s taken off 

of t h a t . When you got in to the fine hose, then i t showed r ings more predominant. 

You could see i t on your l eg , in other words. So tha t required to do something 

about i t , so then they made an attachment on the machines where i t would, run 

one course off of one cone of yarn, another course on the o ther cone, and then 

what they called t h r ee - ca r r i e r . I t kni t the en t i re stocking off of three 

d i f ferent cones of yarn. And t ha t would l eve l out those r ings to the place 

where you couldn' t de tec t them, 

MM: Did they have to bring in a new machine to do t h a t , o r would you 

ju s t make adaptations on the one machine? 

CHAPMAN: I t was j u s t one attachment, what they c a l l a f r i c t i o n , tha t 

pulled the ca r r i e r s backwards and forwards, t ha t l a i d the yarn in front there 

that kn i t . What i t would do, they had the f i r s t three c a r r i e r s with the 

same yarn on, say one-two-three. This f r i c t i on would take t h i s c a r r i e r down 

here and drop i t and. sh i f t and pick up the other one, and back and sh i f t and 

pick up t h i s one, and then i t ' d go back and take t h i s one again. So r e a l l y 

they d i d n ' t have to change the machine other than t h a t . Then they went from 

the footer-legger-type equipment t o the one machine tha t would, knit i t a l l 

the way through. 

MM; Did tha t put a l o t of people out of work? 

CHAPMAN: No, not r e a l l y , because a t tha t stage they were s t i l l increasing 

production, buying more equipment, and they would sh i f t the help from one thing 

to another. And we d i d n ' t l o se . . . . Some, of course. Some of the help 

d i d n ' t want to change. They wanted to get out and do something e l s e . 

MM; When a l l the innovations in the machinery came, who made the decision 
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to bring in the machinery? How did tha t work in the mill? Did Mr. Maynard. 

keep up with a l l the l a t e s t innovations, o r would, you? Were there journals 

of new Inventions in hosiery, o r would people in the factory i t s e l f invent . , . 

CHAPMAN; That was my job. In other words, the superintendent had. to 

keep up with t h a t . As far as Mr. Maynard, he knew absolutely nothing about 

the kni t t ing machines, nothing. He worked more with finances and s a l e s , 

and, of course, h i s word was the boss from the word go. He knew what was 

going on, but as fa r as knowing mechanical on the kn i t t ing machines, he 

d i d n ' t , and he doesn ' t u n t i l t h i s day. But he knows what i t takes to make 

a good hose. He's got to have the equipment; he knows t h a t . And i f 

something new come out for the f ac to r i e s , l i ke Textile Machine Works would 

make another machine, I would go to see . If we were going to buy new machines, 

get with the people, l i ke with Text i le , and I 'd out l ine what we wanted on the 

machine. A l o t of companies, of course, have what they c a n superintendents 

and foremen tha t haven't come up through the mill l ike I d id , from the bottom 

to the top , but I think i t ' s an advantage to know equipment. You don ' t have 

to have tha t knowledge to handle the help and get along with t ra in ing people, 

but to know what's going on your industry, I think, i s a big advantage to work. 

You know what a k n i t t e r can do i f you done i t yourself. 

MM* Were you superintendent of the whole kn i t t ing mil l or the f u l l -

fashioned? How was tha t broken down in the mill? 

CHAPMAN: Yes, I was superintendent of the e n t i r e . . . . Of course, then 

I had my foremen under me, or supervisors , whichever one you want t o c a l l them, 

in each department, but they a l l answered to me, and I had to answer to Mr. 

Maynard. The seaming, the inspecting, the gray goods(?), you had t o know a l l 

t h a t , and you had to have people tha t you could depend on. You give them 

authori ty to do a job, and you expect them t o do i t . 
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MM; When you were working in Durham a t the Golden Belt, was there no 

opportunity to move ahead over there? 

CHAPMAN: I d i d n ' t think tha t there was. At the time tha t I contacted these 

people up here , I had heard t ha t they were s t a r t i ng a mi l l . And I was working 

a t n ight , and i n the meantime I had gotten married. I was s t i l l working a t 

night , twelve hours. And I d i d n ' t think tha t there was any opportunity, 

even to get a day job, because there were older people, and they were 

es tabl ished. I t d i d n ' t appear tha t they were going to enlarge any more. 

And, too, I kind of f e l t l ike I ' d ra ther be a big f ish in a l i t t l e pond than 

a l i t t l e f i sh i n a big pond. I wanted to r e a l l y see i f I couldn ' t e s t ab l i sh 

myself and run a mi l l . I had enough confidence in myself tha t I could do i t . 

I was lucky enough that I got by with i t . 

MM: Did you ever want to t r y and own your own mill? 

CHAPMAN* I had an opportunity t o , and I d i d n ' t have nerve enough t o , 

I was ra ther young; I was twenty-five years old. when I took the job a t Tower. 

Then a f te r we got t h i s German o u t f i t tha t we got our f i r s t machines from, 

I worked with them pre t ty c lose , and they worked with me in ge t t ing them 

s t a r t ed . And the old German tha t run i t — h i s name was Reiner—that company 

tha t bu i l t these Iron Sickle(?) kni t t ing machines, said he'd put me in s ix 

machines for nothing, and I could pay for them as I made i t . But, of course, 

I ' d have had. to get out and ge t a building, and I d i d n ' t have any f inancial 

backing other than t h a t . And I d i d n ' t , and of course i t ' s possible I could 

have gone to the bank; possible , but I doubt i t . Because I d i d n ' t have any 

co l l a t e r a l a t t ha t time. I wasn't making too much money, but I was making 

enough I d i d n ' t want to give i t up . . . 

MM* [Laughter] 

CHAPMAN* Take a chance, I guess. I don ' t know. That 's the one opportunity 

I had. Later on I got o lder , and I could see tha t possibly I could have made 
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i t a l l r i g h t . But I don ' t know; I haven't regret ted i t , 

KM* Mr. Gordon said tha t there were a l o t of f ixers who would buy a 

couple of old machines and j u s t s e t them up in t h e i r garage, and t h e i r wife 

would do the seaming and inspecting, and there would be t h i s whole kind of 

l i t t l e garage hosiery industry. Did that happen in Burlington? 

CHAPMAN: That did back along during tha t same time in the half hose or 

men's hosiery business. There was a l o t of l i t t l e old places s tar ted l ike 

t h a t . Some of them worked a t other mil ls and s t i l l had tha t a t home, see , 

and t h e i r wife would, do the running of i t . But they couldn' t do i t in 

full-fashioned, because you had to have a controlled temperature. You had 

to have a good, mi l l ; you had to have a good building to operate full-fashioned 

machines, and they were expensive, too. 

MM* So these would, probably have been seamless machines tha t people would 

se t up? 

CHAPMAN I Yes. They were a l l seamless machines. More or l e s s in the 

half hose, because during tha t period, say from '25 to '55, t h a t ' s when 

the full-fashioned was r e a l l y good. When I f i r s t come to Burlington, they 

had the McEwen Mill and the May Mill and Standard Hosiery Mil l ; t ha t was the 

three established, firms here . And they had been operating for some time. 

They were a l l full-fashioned. Around., probably, '33 to '40, LcEwen and May 

merged. And. then l a t e r on the sa les organization tha t sold the goods 

representing Standard Hosiery Mill i n New York was a fellow Roth. 

He had got a-hold of Kayser Mills up in Pennsylvania, and then they bought 

out the Standard. K i l l s and made i t go to Kayser Roth. And then Burlington 

bought out the May-McEwen p lan t . And Tower i s s t i l l knocking heads with them. 

MM* Was there a l o t of intense competition here i n Burlington? 

CHAPMAN * Yes, always has been. People l ike Tower kind of hated to see 
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Burlington get in to the hosiery. Because Burlington j u s t more or l e s s 

monopolizes everything, and we f e l t l i ke tha t they would do the same thing 

in the hosiery, which they did . At one time they had probably s i x or eight 

or ten hosiery mil ls a l l over, Virginia and Tennessee and North Carolina. 

Their production was probably somewhere around 50,000 dozen a week. Then 

we got to the place where the b3ginning of the reduction in p r ices , 

have to s e l l t h e i r goods, and. they cut the price a l i t t l e b i t 

and move them. They made i t tougher on the l i t t l e individual p laces . 

MM* When tha t would happen, would you have to cut wages in the mi l l , o r 

how would tha t f i l t e r down to the people working in the mill? 

CHAPMAN: They did a t one time; around 1940 i t s t a r t e d . If i t hadn ' t 

been for the Second. World War, t h i s hosiery changeover possibly could have 

come sooner than i t d id . We had. to cut wages around 1940, ' 4 1 , and we did 

have unions get to work on us . 

MM* Over a t the Tower Mills they t r i ed to unionize? 

CHAPMAN* Yes. I 've always had a l i t t l e b i t of hard feeling towards 

Burlington, because we got the blame for cut t ing wages one time. They were 

supposed to put up t h e i r notice the same day tha t we d id , but they d i d n ' t ; 

they waited a day or two. So Tower, he was the one tha t led the wage 

reduction, which had to come; t h e r e ' s no question about i t . Ei ther tha t o r 

s top . Now Burlington has no full-fashioned machines a t a l l . They had the 

seamless kn i t t ing p lan t s ; I think most a l l of i t now i s a t Harriman, Tennessee. 

The finishing p l a n t ' s over here off of the highway, I doubt i f the hosiery in 

Burlington's setup amounts t o anything, hardly, a drop in the bucket to the 

r e s t of t h e i r business. Kayser Roth has been sold t o Gulf Western or something 

l ike t h a t , 

MM* Tell me a l i t t l e more about the attempt for the union. Was tha t a d i r e c t 
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result of the wage cut? Was this around 1940? 

CHAPMAN: Definitely. No question about it. 

MM* Had there ever been an attempt before that to unionize? 

CHAPMAN * No, that started then, and then we had the first election, I 

think, in 1941. We won it by a few votes. And. from that time on till about 

1952 or '53, we messed with it and argued with them, but we never did sign a 

contract. And finally the help voted it out. 

MM* Do you remember what union this was? 

CHAPMAN* The Federation of Hosiery Workers. I think f i na l l y the people 

real ized tha t we were doing a l l we could do for the he lp ; in other words, we 

had to make some money. There was no question about t h a t . You're in 

business to make money; i f you d o n ' t , you don ' t l a s t long. What they made 

went back in to the business, made more jobs for more people. We s ta r t ed 

with one l i t t l e plant the re , t ha t f i r s t building on the , , . , And while 

I was the re , we bu i l t the addi t ion to the back of i t . And then from tha t 

we went down to Hawkins Street and bu i l t the basement and the other room. 

They had a l l t ha t bu i l t up. And since we come back and b u i l t the addi t ion 

out in front to Hawkins S t ree t , and then since then another one in the middle 

and one i n the back. All t ha t was putting what they made back in the business. 

MM* In Durham, when you were the re , they also d i d n ' t have a union in 

the Golden Belt Manufacturing? 

CHAPMAN* They did a f te r I l e f t t he r e . 

MM* I thought there was a union there in Durham. 

CHAPMAN* I'm sure they had. i t a t Durham Hosiery, too . And Durham 

Hosiery has moved out of Durham, I don ' t know exact ly where i t i s . 

MM: In the general t e x t i l e s t r ike in 1934, did any of the hosiery mi l l s 

go out as well? Do you remember t ha t a t a l l ? 
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CHAPMAN* No, d i d n ' t any of the hosiery mi l l s take any par t of i t . Now 

one day there was a bunch of them got one of the l i t t l e half-hose mi l l s , the 

boarders, got them to walk out with them. And they got up a crew; there was 

a whole mob come by our mi l l . And we t r i e d to get the doors locked.—we saw 

them coming—but they bursted In the plant and tried, t o run everybody out . 

Of course, some of the women got scared t o death and. they ran out . One 

of them had pulled the main switch. They had big old s t i cks and clubs,carrying 

them, but they d i d n ' t hurt anyone. They went on out, and people went back to 

work. That night a time or two tha t whole s t r e e t was f u l l of people, t ry ing 

to get them t o come out . We kept the doors locked from then on. They could 

get out , but they couldn' t get in without breaking the door down. But 

we never did have any s t r i k e . We argued with them. And. I think tha t the 

people real ized tha t i t wouldn't do them any good. In other words, we was 

doing a l l we could, do for the he lp . No question i n my mind. I ' ve never 

been i n favor of a union. I guess i t ' s done some good i n d i f fe ren t i ndus t r i e s . 

But I think i t ' s going to ruin t h i s country eventual ly . I t ' s p re t ty well 

controlled the government and everything e l s e , I th ink. 

MM* What do you mean, the unions are controlled by the government? 

CHAPMAN* The unions, the AF of L and the CIO, they ' re so strong tha t they 

more or l e s s t e l l the government what to do. 

MM* Don't you think business i s p r e t t y strong i t s e l f in the way tha t i t 

can t e l l the government what . . . 

BEGIN TAPE I I SIDE I 

CHAPMAN* . . . much respons ib i l i ty as a union, i s tha t what . , , 

MM* Yes. 
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CHAPMAN* Oh, yes, de f i n i t e ly . And i f i t wasn't for the union, I don ' t 

know, maybe the business would, r e a l l y monopolize t h e . . . . But I have a l i t t l e 

more fa i th now in the businessman tha t they want to be f a i r , and they have more 

sympathy for working people than maybe they did years ago. I know they do here 

in Burlington, than what they did way back before I ever come here . There was 

cotton mil ls and things tha t more or l e s s d i d n ' t give t h e i r help much chance, 

I think there ce r ta in ly has to be some changes made, but(?) you c a n ' t spend, 

more than you make and l a s t forever, and t h a t ' s what the govemmenment's doing, 

and. i t ' s j u s t a vicious cycle . You ra i se wages, and then you r a i se p r ices , 

and you ra i se wages, and you r a i se p r i ces . The cost of l iv ing goes up, and 

then the union j u s t wants more money. Tha t ' s the system tha t they have. 

MM * Were hosiery workers on the whole be t t e r paid than t e x t i l e workers? 

CHAPMAN* Not now. In f ac t , I th ink the t e x t i l e workers are making 

probably ft l i t t l e be t t e r percentage than the hosiery workers. But a t one 

time the hosiery workers. . . . A full-fashioned k n i t t e r would make more 

than a bank clerk or a l o t of lawyers and ce r ta in ly more than the teachers 

were making. And he was j u s t the king bee around here . But they l e t i t get 

away from them by overproduction. That ' s de f in i t e ly the cause of i t . 

Everybody wanted to get in the hosiery business. You take Burlington and 

J . P. Stevens and those people t h a t are big t e x t i l e manufacturers. When they 

go in to something, they go in to i t i n a big way. But t h e r e ' s been so many 

people t h a t ' s gone out of business tha t i t looks l i ke i t should be now about 

levelled off. 

MM* In the full-fashioned., did women ever become kn i t t e r s? 

CHAPMAN* Oh, yes . During the Second World War, we trained I don ' t know 

how many, but we probably had. for ty or f i f t y women k n i t t e r s , 

MM: Would they get the same wages tha t the men had been get t ing? 
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CHAPMAN* Oh, yes , they were on incentive work, what we called piecework. They 

got the same th ing, 

MM: Before t h a t , what were the jobs t ha t women t r a d i t i o n a l l y had in 

hosiery? Before World War I I , women weren't k n i t t e r s . 

CHAPMAN* At tha t time we probably had. the footers and leggers . They 

were what they called toppers . They took the leg and put i t on a stand and 

then transferred i t from tha t stand to a bar. And tha t was t ransferred to the footer ma 

chine. You had. 24. You'd have three toppers . She'd have e ight bars to f i l l 

while he was running the se t off. And. the good help, they were a l l on 

incentive work. Every time he ran off a dozen, they got so much pay for 

topping. And what they would do, the good, fas t girls—some were f a s t e r than 

others—they would have tha t bar f i l led and up ready, and as soon as the 

machine stopped they would help take the work off the s t r i n g s , and then they 

were ready and dropped those bars in the re , and. they'd be gone again. The 

women did t h a t . And then, of course, they did the seaming and the looping. 

At tha t time they had to have loopers . They looped the heel together,and. then 

the toe had. to be looped. That was before what they c a l l the round heel 

come in to e f fec t . And then you had to a i t e r ( ? ) t h e machine so tha t i t would 

kni t narrow a l l the way in to where there wasn't but four needles or e ight 

needles l e f t tha t run a l i t t l e toe tab out. And then when the seamer seamed 

t h a t , tha t j u s t folded back and. was sewed in to the seam. Women did a l l the 

seaming and did a l l the inspecting and the looping. Of course, then when 

they went to the f inishing p lant , a l o t of the women did the boarding, which 

i s the ho t t es t job in the world. 

MM* I talked to one woman who was a boarder, and she said t ha t she could 

s t i ck her hand in boiling water and pul l out a corn cob, because her 

hands were so tough tha t she d i d n ' t even feel i t . 

Interview number H-0016 in the Southern Oral History Program Collection (#4007) at The Southern  Historical Collection, 
The Louis Round Wilson Special Collections Library, UNC-Chapel Hill.



Chapman 19 

CHAPMAN* When I was in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, working for Phoenix Hosiery 

Mil l , the spring of the year they closed do wn the kn i t t ing machines and wanted 

me to go over to the boarding department in the f inishing and board the half 

hose, I went over there with no experience. You don ' t have to have any 

experience, other than being able t o turn loose [without ge t t ing burned]. And 

I boarded one day, and I had b l i s t e r s in the palm of my hand, as big as a half 

a d o l l a r . And. I sa id , "If I have to make a l iv ing doing t h a t , I ' l l j u s t d i e . " 

MM* [Laughter] 

CHAPMAN* But t h a t ' s my experience of boarding. I 've seen women up here— 

and they ' re on piecework—when i t ' d be 102 or 103 degrees, and the perspira t ion 

was j u s t pouring l ike i t was water off of them. And I don ' t see how they stand 

i t , but they do. 

MM* Were there any dangerous jobs in hosiery? I know there were a l o t 

of accidents in cotton t e x t i l e s . Was i t possible to get hurt in a hosiery 

mi l l , too? 

CHAPMAN * Oh, yes. The worst injury we had, a k n i t t e r , he . . . . They 

had these l i t t l e rods there tha t they'd hook on to pu l l the stocking out . 

He dropped one down in the machine, and he reached down to pick i t up. 

And there was a big half-moon cam come around, and i t only cleared the rod 

by about that much, and i t caught him on the arm here . I t come around and 

caught h i s arm down in there and j u s t l a i d i t open down the r e . That muscle 

a l l down there was j u s t l a i d open. That ' s the worst one we had. I ' d have 

them break t h e i r f ingers . You see those wheels in front there that turn? 

One boy passed the t r i ck (? ) tha t he had, t o reach back and do. When he did , 

he stuck h i s finger in that wheel and broke h i s l i t t l e f inger . Things l ike 

t h a t . Mash your hand, f inger . The worst th ing , though, i s those hooks. 

You get them stuck in your hand, and you c a n ' t ge t them out . You've got t o 
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have them cut out , because tha t l i t t l e hook i s l i ke a f ish hook. But we 

never had any r ea l bad acc idents . I t ' s more or l e s s carelessness anytime. 

MM: This i s r a a l l y in t e re s t ing , because you had worked in northern mil ls 

and. then i n the South. Did you notice any difference between management 

techniques or the atmosphere of working in a northern mil l versus working i n 

a southern mill? 

CHAPMAN* Not a great dea l . The name of the mil l in Indianapolis was the 

Real Si lk Hosiery Mi l l . They had about a thousand, kn i t t ing machines; i t was 

a p re t ty good-sized place. The supervisor in the kn i t t ing department was an 

easy-going type of fellow. And they had what they called, an Employees' 

Benefit Association or something l i k e t h a t . I t was more or l e s s supposed, to be a union 

inside of the mi l l , j u s t t ha t employer. The company could not lay you off; 

tha t was one of the th ings . But when they made t h i s s t re tchout system, they 

gave me another job . I had j u s t s ta r ted on kn i t t i ng and hadn' t been there long, 

and they gave me another job , but the pay was next to nothing. So t h a t ' s the 

reason I l e f t and. went to Wisconsin. 

MM* How did you find out about the job in Wisconsin? Were there other 

people going up the re , o r had they advertised? 

CHAPMAN* No, they hadn ' t adver t ised. I j u s t knew tha t there were some 

good-sized hosiery mi l l s up the re , and I sa id , "I'm going t o t r ave l around 

a l i t t l e b i t . " I run in to people up there tha t were o r ig ina l ly from Durham, 

and t h a t ' s the reason I come back. You don ' t understand, how these things 

happen, r e a l l y ; the moves tha t you make, you d o n ' t know why, but they turn 

out r i g h t . 

MM* There seems to have been a whole pa t t e rn . A l o t of the people t ha t 

I ' ve talked to j u s t moved from mil l t o mil l a l l the time, and there seemed 

to be a whole t r ave l l ing body of people tha t moved from mil l t o mi l l , always 

Interview number H-0016 in the Southern Oral History Program Collection (#4007) at The Southern  Historical Collection, 
The Louis Round Wilson Special Collections Library, UNC-Chapel Hill.



Chapman 21 

looking for something a l i t t l e b i t be t t e r . 

CHAPMAN* Perhaps i t seemed so , but I don ' t think tha t there was too much 

migration. Now a t one time, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania was r e a l l y the hosiery 

center . Had full-fashioned, seamless, everything. And I don ' t know i f t h e r e ' s 

any up there now. And, of course, the people in the South think the reason why 

i s the union. They couldn ' t compete. One of the things tha t I could never 

agree with the union i s , they want to s e t a standard, way, . , . Well, say, 

the slowest, most inef f ic ien t employee tha t you have, they want to take h i s 
/Where, 

standard and se t tha t as a s t a n d a r d / say, a k n i t t e r for us would kni t f i f teen 

or sixteen dozen a day off the machine, because the two in the a i s l e would. 

work together and they'd help one another on [each o t h e r ' s ] machines. While 

t h i s one was changing and s t a r t i ng another s e t , t h i s one over here would be 

running in the middle of the stocking, and do t h a t . Well, the union wouldn't 

want them to do t h a t . I never could understand tha t part of the thinking 

of unions, why they wouldn't want people to put out the most e f f i c i en t and 

the most work tha t they could put out in a day, because they'd make more 

money by doing i t . But t h a t ' s one of those things t ha t I couldn ' t agree with 

the union. And another one i s t ha t they wanted t o keep an uproar a l l the t ime. They 

d i d n ' t want things to go smooth. I had enough experience. I was gray-headed 

from the time I was for ty years o ld . When I was f i f t y , I was white as t h i s . 

MM* [Laughter] 

CHAPMAN* A l o t of nights I d i d n ' t s leep . 

MM* When did you r e t i r e from Tower Mills? 

CHAPMAN* At the end of '73 or January 1, ' ?4Jhat was forty-four and a half 

years I was the re . All my l i f e in the re . They gave me tha t clock there when 

I was there for ty years . 

MM* What did they do when you re t i r ed? 

Interview number H-0016 in the Southern Oral History Program Collection (#4007) at The Southern  Historical Collection, 
The Louis Round Wilson Special Collections Library, UNC-Chapel Hill.



Chapman 22 

CHAPMAN* Well, I did a l l r i g h t . [Laughter] 

MM: Did they have a big party for you and send you off? 

CHAPMAN; We had been having, and d id , a supervisors ' and f i x e r s ' Christmas 

dinner during the Christmas hol idays. We'd have s teak dinners a t the club or 

somewhere. And, of course, t ha t year they had a present for me. 

MM* The Burlington Ki l l had i t s mill v i l l a ge , and the Plaid mill had a 

mill v i l l a g e . Did the hosiery mil ls a l so have a mil l v i l lage attached to 

t h e i r mills? 

CHAPMAN: [None] other than Alamance. Now the Standard Mills a t Alamance 

a t one time owned a n those l i t t l e houses back over the re . I don ' t know i f 

you've been out there or no t . 

MM* I haven' t y e t . 

CHAPMAN* But now they don ' t have i t . I think t h a t they sold them a l l 

out , gave the people tha t were l iv ing in them an opportunity to buy them. 

Because t h i s company tha t bought Standard. . . . Yes, tha t was a mill 

v i l lage out the re , more or l e s s . I come here in '29 . They had been i n 

business in half hose f i r s t for I don ' t know how long, and a t tha t time they 

were in men's fashions. But t h a t ' s the only one tha t I know of tha t had any 

type of housing or anything l i ke t h a t . 

MM: Were most of the people tha t worked in the Tower Mill from Burlington, 

or did you have to bring in k n i t t e r s in the beginning tha t already knew the 

work, from outside? Or were there enough people here? 

CHAPMAN* No, I started t ra in ing them from the very beginning. There 

were a few a t tha t time more or l e s s k n i t t e r s d r i f t i ng from place to place. And 

I hired some of them, and maybe they'd be here a while. But in the meantime, 

we always kept, probably on every machine, a t r a inee . Because we expected, to 

get more machines, and we wanted to have them ready when they . Other 
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than I would say maybe half a dozen or so, we trained them a l l , and tha t group 

d i d n ' t s tay long. Get a few do l l a r s in t h e i r pocket, and they'd be gone. 

MM* How long would i t take t o t r a i n a k n i t t e r on the full-fashioned? 

CHAPMAN* At tha t time, we considered about s ix months. They had to l ea rn 

t o s t ra ighten and l ine up needles, keep them in order , and then to make the 

changes and a l l on the kni t t ing machine. I f they made a mistake, i t could 

cause a thousand d o l l a r s ' damage tha t quick [snaps f i n g e r ] . Breaking a 

bunch of needles. They had twenty-four heads, and i f you did something and 

break the needles out of twenty-four heads, boy, you r ea l l y got something, 

MM* What about a f ixer? That must have taken a long time to l ea rn . 

CHAPMAN* Of eourse, i t took much longer, years . 

MM* That would, have been the most sk i l l ed job i n the industry? 

CHAPMAN* Yes. The s k i l l in kn i t t ing was being able to square(?) up 

needles and keep them in a perfect l i n e , and s t ra ighten the needles when you 

had to put in a needle. And then as fa r as the fixing was concerned, when 

they changed s ty l e s a l l tha t big chain i n front there tha t buttons them, 

every one of those buttons had a job to do, and you had t o know. That was 

probably the most sk i l l ed par t of f ixing. The l a s t four German machines we 

bought,where we put the reinforcing down here in the heel and. so le , i t wouldn't 

make a c lear s t i t c h . I t more or l e s s s p l i t the s t i t c h . The inside would be 

kind of fuzzy-looking. All four of those machines were l ike t h a t . We 

couldn' t get any sa t i s fac t ion out of them. I had. to do something, so 
/the 

I changed the motion on the machine/ cams t ha t did the kn i t t i ng , to c lear 

tha t up. Things l ike t h a t , you j u s t had to do what you thought was r i g h t , 

and i f i t worked well and good, I was lucky enough, I helped to 

j u s t c lear i t up. The cams t ha t are on t h i s big shaft—I don ' t know whether 

you noticed the camshafts in the mill—control the motion of the machine, forming 
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the s t i t c h and. everything. And to be as fine as i t i s and. look l ike i t ' s 

a p re t ty heavy th ing, to control the l i t t l e b i t t y . . . . Take the narrowing, 

when i t goes down and. picks up the s t i t c h and. moves i t over to narrow the 

hose down for the ankle . There's only a thousandth and a half tolerance 

to go down between the sinkers and d iv ide r s . I f you h i t i t on top , i t j u s t 

curls tha t point up l i ke t h a t , and every time i t goes down i t ' s taking needles 

out. All tha t has got to be s e t j u s t exact ly r i g h t . That 's the reason why 

you have t o have controlled temperatures, because tha t narrowing i s on a rod 

half the length of the s t ee l rod and half the length of the kn i t t ing machine. 

Any var ia t ion in temperature wi l l contract or expand t h a t , and t h a t ' s what 

puts you out of l i n e . Did Mr. Maynard or Jim Maynard take you through the 

mills? 

MM* Mr. Gordon took us through the mi l l . The other man who's working 

on the project had interviewed Mr. Maynard several t imes, and he j u s t kind 

of walked by while we were going through. But we spent several hours. F i r s t 

we went through the finishing p lant , and. then we went through the kni t t ing 

mi l l . Mr. Crutchfield was wonderful and kept us there for a long time and. 

showed us everything, and i t was r ea l l y fascinat ing. 

CHAPMAN: Joe ' s a wonderful person. I guess h e ' s one of my grea tes t 

admirers.He'd come to me now for advice i f . - • . He i s one loyal person. 

MM* And he s t i l l goes in there every morning t o work for a l i t t l e b i t? 

CHAPMAN* Yes. 

MM; I t ' s obvious he jus t loved h i s work. 

CHAPMAN: He talked to me about i t . I d i d n ' t know whether tha t would work 

out or not, for h is sake. I 'd hate to be tied down a l l the time l ike t ha t , 

every morning having to go i n . Knowing Joe, he'd be kind of l o s t not doing 

anything. So I guess i t ' s j u s t worked out f ine . 

I l l He had one picture of some men working on the machinery in the mi l l . 
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Did anybody ever take any pictures in the mil l or t r y to record any of the . . . 

CHAPMAN: Yes, I had some, but I don ' t know where they are now. The only 

picture I got i s our baseball team that we had. 

MM* Yes, I heard you had a great baseball team. [Laughter] 

CHAPMAN: I got tha t picture in the re . 

[End of interview] 
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